POWER SPECTRUM OF BRAIN ACTIVITY DURING SLEEP AND DEVELOPMENT OF

SPACEFLIGHT ASSOCIATED NEURO-OCULAR SYDROME

by

MARGARET GRIVETTE

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Human Physiology and Neuroscience and the Robert D. Clark Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science

May 2023

An Abstract of the Thesis of

Margaret Grivette for the degree of Bachelor of Science in the Department of Human Physiology and Neuroscience to be taken June 2023

Title: Power Spectrum of Brain Activity During Sleep and Development of Spaceflight Associated Neuro-ocular Syndrome

> Approved: <u>Andrew Lovering Ph.D.</u> Primary Thesis Advisor

Approximately 70% of astronauts returning from 4-6 months of spaceflight present lasting neuro-ocular changes including retinal thickening, cotton wool spots, and optic disc edema among others. This syndrome of findings is termed Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome (SANS). Although the underlying mechanisms leading to SANS are unclear, reduced metabolic clearance of neuro-ocular structures may play a role, and neurometabolic clearance occurs primarily via the glymphatic system that is most active during sleep. Sleep is known to be disrupted in spaceflight despite hypnotic drug use. Recently our group utilized a strict head-down tilt bed rest model (spaceflight analog) to induce findings of SANS. We found that 5 out of 11 subjects developed optic disc edema and, those who developed these ocular changes were shorter sleepers prior to, during, and after bed rest. Differences in sleep duration and sleep intensity are expected to result in unique electroencephalographic (EEG) activities. Thus, examining the EEG activity in those who do and do not develop optic disc edema may provide electrophysiological biomarkers to identify those at risk for developing SANS during long duration spaceflight. Power spectral density (psd) was calculated using the MNE (Minimum-Norm Estimate) psd function in Python. Power values were averaged over conventional frequency bands (delta: 1-4 Hz, theta: 4-8 Hz, alpha: 8-13, low beta: 13-21, high beta: 21-35). A three-factor repeated measures ANOVA was

used to test differences in sleep stages for each frequency range and channel across all participants and compared to a *Bonferroni* adjusted alpha. There were significant differences in alpha and low and high beta power during non-rapid eye movement (NREM) stage 2 sleep; participants who did not develop optic disc edema had greater alpha and beta power compared to those who did develop optic disc edema. Blunted alpha and beta activity during N2 sleep could suggest increased risk for developing SANS.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis committee; Dr. Andrew Lovering, Aaron Betts, and Dr. Nicole Dudukovic. I would not have been able to complete this without each of your support and guidance throughout the thesis process and in my other academic pursuits. I additionally would like to thank my parents and family for their encouragement and attendance to my thesis defense. Lastly, a special thanks to NASA for funding this work.

Table of Contents

Introduction	8			
Spaceflight Alters Human Physiology	8			
Characterization of Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome				
Mimicking the Spaceflight Environment on Earth	10			
Spaceflight Negatively Impacts Sleep	12			
VaPER Suggests Short Sleep as Risk Factor for SANS	13			
Sleep Physiology	13			
Polysomnography	15			
EEG Spectral Power	16			
Hypothesis	17			
Methods	18			
Human Subjects	18			
Environment	18			
VaPER Polysomnography	19			
Power Spectral Analysis & Statistical Analysis	20			
RESULTS	22			
Subject Characteristics	22			
EEG Spectral Analysis	22			
Discussion	26			
Limitations	29			
Concluding Statements	29			
Bibliography	31			

List of Figures

Figure I. PSD Channel A1-O2 BDC-4 NREM2 Sleep	24
Figure II. PSD Channel A1-O2 HDTBR28 NREM2 Sleep	24
Figure III. PSD Channel A2-C3 HDTBR28 NREM2 Sleep	25

List of Tables

Table 1. Subject anthropometric data

Error! Bookmark not defined.

Introduction

Manned aerial flight was first invented in 1903 and was quickly followed by the first crewed spaceflight mission to the Earth's Moon less than 70 years after this invention. Less than 50 years later, societal pressures have mounted to not only explore the further depths of our solar system, but to allow for humans to maintain a stellar presence by colonizing research and military bases on the Earth's lunar surface and the Martian Red Planet. However, we know that human physiology is significantly impacted by spaceflight, notably by the absence of a gravitational field that humans have evolved with. Understanding the impacts of reduced gravity on human physiology is critical not only for astronaut health, but for the safety of spaceflight missions and to sustain life on other planets and moons with gravity different than that on Earth. Although some of the changes observed in astronauts during and post-spaceflight have been in neuro-ocular structures and are associated with near sight visual acuity impairments, virtually every system in the body is impacted by the presence of microgravity to some relatively unknown degree.

Spaceflight Alters Human Physiology

The impacts of long duration spaceflight on astronaut health have been a growing area of concern over the past few decades (Mader). Astronaut physiology is altered over the course of several months as a result of acclimating to the microgravity environment aboard the International Space Station (ISS). Some of the more well described changes include severe muscle atrophy, bone demineralization, and even neurological adjustments (Williams). More specifically, astronauts can experience a decrease in muscle strength by up to 50%, regardless of maintaining rigorous exercise regimes during spaceflight missions. Studies of astronauts returning to Earth have also observed a 60-70% increase in urinary and fecal calcium compared to pre-flight measures, suggesting bone demineralization (Williams). Of great interest to the current project,

prolonged exposure to microgravity has been shown to lead to a possible permanent ~2% expansion of the brain and cerebral spinal fluid (CSF), accompanied by a 13% increase in CSF flow velocity, indicating reduced intracranial compliance or intracranial space (Lew). In addition to these changes, astronauts returning from long-duration spaceflight missions have reported complaints of visual impairments and headaches, accompanied by the measured neuro-ocular structural changes. Approximately 29% of astronauts that return from short duration spaceflight missions and ~70% from long (4-6+ months) duration spaceflight missions report deficits in visual acuity, suggesting there are changes occurring in astronauts' optic physiology giving rise to these impairments (Mader).

Characterization of Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome

The changes impacting optic health include optic disc edema (swelling around the optic disc), retinal thickness, choroidal folds (line on the backwall of the eye), and globe flattening (misshaping of the eye), among others. The most prevalent of the findings is ODE. These findings have become part of an internationally recognized astronaut health concern termed Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome (SANS). While the etiology of SANS is currently unknown, there are a few leading hypotheses surrounding its development. Initially, it was believed a primary underlying factor leading to SANS development may be the chronic headward fluid shift experienced in weightlessness during spaceflight (Greenwald). This fluid shift, due to the loss of a head-to-toe gravitational gradient, results in mildly elevated intracranial pressure (ICP), which is thought to be extended to intraocular pressure (IOP) (Zhang). Interestingly, studies performed during parabolic flights (which simulate weightlessness in ~20 second intervals) have found that ICP is not pathologically elevated in the presence of microgravity, as similar elevations in ICP are seen when halfway between the upright and supine position. However, microgravity does prevent

the normal lowering of ICP that would occur when humans are upright throughout the day, which may lead to pathological changes over a longer period of time (Lawley). Another factor for SANS development could be genetic, possibly the folate- (type of B vitamin) and vitamin B12-dependent one-carbon metabolic pathways. Low folate accompanied with single DNA base pair substitutions at G and C alleles for methionine synthase reductase A66G SNP G and serine hydroxymethyltransferase-1 C1420T SNP respectively have been associated with SANS symptoms (Zwart). This suggests that single changes in DNA can alter enzyme function and increase risk for SANS. Not only is the underlying physiology of SANS not well understood, the duration of the effects on neuro-ocular health is unknown but may be permanent in some cases. While clinical development of optic disc edema in studies using spaceflight analogs report resolution of edema within 6 months of the study concluding (Clément), astronauts are adapting to the presence of microgravity for much longer durations, which likely impacts their ability to recover on Earth. Indeed, the neuro-ocular impairments observed in astronauts returning from spaceflight appear to last for years (in some cases even 10+ years), with gravity serving as the only effective countermeasure shown to revert these adverse consequences.

Mimicking the Spaceflight Environment on Earth

Currently, the most effective method to study astronaut health in spaceflight relative to SANS outcomes is use of a novel ground-based spaceflight analog employing *strict* 6-degree head-down tilt bedrest (HDTBR) with increased ambient CO₂. This analog, implemented in the VaPER (VIIP and Psychological :envihab Research) study, has demonstrated the ability to reproduce SANS-like outcomes in a similar prevalence as long-duration spaceflight, suggesting it to be a suitable model to investigate SANS (Clément). The *strict* 6-degree head-down tilt bedrest model allows for a notable headward fluid shift to occur which is thought to be similar to that experienced

by astronauts aboard the ISS. A study performed at the University of Texas Medical Branch, prior to the VaPER study, utilized a similar bedrest protocol but allowed subjects to use pillows ad libitum throughout the study. However, this protocol failed to elicit similar physiological findings of SANS (i.e., presence of optic disc edema) and with the success of the VaPER study, these studies suggested subjects maintaining the *strict* head-down tilt is a critical component in providing an accurate ground-based analog for SANS development (Clément). The VaPER study was designed to determine if a *strict* 6-degree HDTBR with increased ambient CO₂ would be a sufficient analog for studying SANS outcomes and was the first study to elicit these SANS-like outcomes specifically optic disc edema.

However, life on the ISS offers more than one unique environmental challenge for humans. Being an enclosed space, comparable in many ways to that of a submarine, gases are unable to dissipate into the atmosphere and those that are typically negligible on Earth, particularly carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentrations, are found to be higher on the ISS. To account for this the VaPER study increased ambient CO₂ levels from 0.04% to 0.5% to reflect the levels found on the ISS. CO₂ is known as the most powerful vasodilator impacting cerebral blood flow; breathing 5% of CO₂ can increase cerebral blood flow by 50% (Kety). The pressure of CO₂ in ambient air would increase arterial CO₂ pressures, vasodilating cerebral arterioles and possibly increasing the intracranial pressure (Laurie). Increased arterial pressure of CO₂ (PaCO₂) was hypothesized to be associated with the development of optic disc edema and headaches experienced by crew members aboard the ISS when combined with the chronic headward fluid shift experienced in microgravity during spaceflight (Laurie). This stated, arterial CO₂ pressures, hypercapnic ventilatory responses, and cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ remained consistent throughout the duration of the study, indicating the change in CO₂ did not impact the development of SANS outcomes (Laurie).

Spaceflight Negatively Impacts Sleep

While we don't fully understand the underlying mechanisms leading to the development of SANS, it is well established that sleep is impaired during spaceflight through subjective (e.g., sleep diaries) and objective measures (actigraphy). Subjectively, sleep diaries suggest astronauts' perceive worsening sleep quality and decreased alertness during shuttle missions when compared to before spaceflight and after spaceflight (Barger). This study included astronauts that were allowed to use sleep-promoting hypnotic drugs in addition to an 8.5hr period reserved for sleep and still found sleep during spaceflight was deficient and decreased compared to pre-flight. Ultimately, this suggests astronauts are sleeping less when in space and their perceived quality of sleep is reduced. In addition to subjective measures of sleep, objective data from studies with astronauts employing actigraphy (e.g., watches) have quantified a mean total sleep time of 5.96 hours (SD \pm 0.56) with a mean time in bed of 7.35 hours (SD \pm 0.51) during space transportation shuttle missions. Three months prior to the mission astronauts were attempting a mean time of 7.40 hours (SD \pm 0.59) and obtaining a mean time of 6.29 hours (SD \pm 0.67) (Barger). Together, these data suggest astronauts are sleeping less during spaceflight and have reduced alertness regardless of using medications to promote sleep and having reserved sleep periods. Typical sleep durations for adults are generally 7 to 8 hours a night (Hirshkowitz). Given the well-understood roles of sleep and performance (either cognitive or physical), any impairments to this process (getting less than the needed amount of sleep) can be detrimental, especially when astronauts are tasked with manning equipment collectively worth billions of dollars that support their own existence in a very hostile environment.

VaPER Suggests Short Sleep as Risk Factor for SANS

Of great interest to the current project, during the VaPER bedrest study subjects developed optic disc edema, a hallmark of SANS, and those subjects with edema had reductions in sleep prior to, during, and after the head-down tilt bedrest period (publication in review). This study incorporated a 30-day strict HDTBR model (with a 14-day ambulatory period before and after the 30-day bed rest period) in a mildly hypercapnic (0.5%; Earth's atmosphere is 0.04%) environment. Specifically, the participants who developed optic disc edema were more likely to have less stage 2 non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep, less total sleep time (TST) and increased wake after sleep onset (WASO). Less total sleep can occur with or without impacting WASO by staying up late (insomnia, no impact on WASO), waking up early (no impact on WASO), or waking up throughout the night (increases WASO). WASO can be manipulated without impacting TST as well by increasing the length of the night of sleep. The odds ratio (a measure of association between an event and an outcome) for developing optic disc edema was significant for each hour below the mean total sleep time (2.2 [1.1-4.3] mean [95% confidence intervals]). Currently, short sleep is the only underlying commonality in those who developed optic disk edema. In fact, the shortest sleepers in this study also had the greatest amount of retinal thickening, a proxy for optic disc edema.

Sleep Physiology

Both wakefulness and sleep are active processes in the central nervous system reflective of the neuronal networks driving these different brain states. Wakefulness is a state of consciousness accompanied by a highly active brain and sleep is not just the absence of wakefulness. Wakefulness and sleep are two distinct states that have unique neurophysiological networks associated with generation and regulation of these two states. In wakefulness and concentrated wakefulness, electrical activity is primarily comprised of low amplitude or voltage with rapid frequencies ranging from 8-12 Hz and 12+ Hz, referred to as alpha waves and beta waves, respectively. Sleep consists of two phases, rapid eye movement (REM) and non-rapid eye movement (NREM) with three stages within NREM (Stage 1(N1), Stage 2 (N2), Stage 3 (N3)) which represent progressively deeper stages of sleep. Our body generally cycles through the five stages of sleep (wake, N1, N2, N3, and REM) within 60 to 90 minutes and repeats throughout the night. The stages typically progress in order but N2 nearly always precedes REM sleep i.e. N1, N2, N3, N2, REM, though the transition from REM back to NREM can be into any NREM stage (Patel). Openeyed wakefulness consists mostly of beta waves but transitions to alpha waves once eyes are closed and drowsiness progresses (Patel). NREM 1 is typically the first stage of sleep entered from wakefulness and comprises approximately 5% of sleep. N1 has a mixture of alpha waves (<50%) and theta waves which are slower than alpha waves at a frequency between 4-8 Hz and low amplitude.

NREM 2 sleep is the most abundant stage of NREM sleep, with 45% of sleep but may increase with age. N2 is characterized not by specific wave frequencies but bursts of neuronal firing (Patel). These bursts are sleep spindles and K-complexes that are believed to be related to memory consolidation. Sleep spindles are isolated instances of oscillatory activity lasting 0.5-3s at a range between 11-16 Hz in a waxing and waning amplitude. Spindles can occur in any stage of NREM but appear primarily in N2 and originates from the thalamo-cortical loop: thalamus, thalamic reticular nucleus and neocortex (Schönauer). K-complexes are sharp biphasic waves that last longer than 0.5s and may be spontaneous. The precise function of K-complexes is unknown, but it is theorized that they play a part in sleep maintenance, arousal from sleep and memory consolidation (Gandhi).

NREM 3 is often referred to as deep sleep or slow wave sleep (SWS) due to its characterization of slow frequencies (0.5–4.5 Hz) with large amplitudes called delta waves. The size of the amplitude is indicative of the intensity of sleep with elevated arousal thresholds during SWS (Cirelli). In REM sleep, electrical activity in the brain most resembles wakefulness, while the rest of the body is experiencing atonia (lack of muscle tone or muscle paralysis) and an irregular breathing rate. REM sleep lasts varying lengths of time but the length of time spent in REM progressively increases in the later part of the night.

Polysomnography

Polysomnography is the gold standard used to quantify sleep, incorporating electroencephalography (EEG), electrooculography (EOG), and electromyography (EMG), which measure cortical electrical activity, eye movement potentials and electrical activity of the muscles, respectively. With this information we can quantify wakefulness (time spent awake), the progressive stages of non-rapid eye movement (NREM), and rapid eye movement (REM) sleep during a given sleep period and produce a graph of a full night's sleep by stage as a function of time called a hypnogram. EMG and EOG are used to distinguish between Wakefulness and REM states. EMG measures muscle tone, which is seen in all sleep stages but is absent during REM sleep, whereas EOG measures eye potentials, indicative of eye movements, whose' activity rapidly increases while in REM sleep. During wakefulness, the dominant EEG will be beta and potentially alpha electrical activity, which are the highest frequency and lowest amplitude signals. Alpha activity is seen more in quiet wakefulness. Stage 1 (NREM 1, N1) is light sleep and when low voltage theta activity with mixed frequency would be observed (Patel). NREM stage 2 which is approximately 45% of total sleep is deeper sleep accompanied by K complexes (Patel). NREM stage 3 is the deepest sleep also known as slow wave sleep and sees low frequency, high amplitude

delta activity. REM sleep looks similar to wakefulness and has high frequency, low amplitude beta activity, but is distinguished from wakefulness by muscle atonia and rapid eye movements.

EEG Spectral Power

Measuring differences in sleep has led us to expect that there would be a unique EEG or an electrophysiological biomarker for determining who may be at a greater risk to develop SANSlike outcomes. We have objective measures of EEG activity to determine stages of sleep, total sleep time (TST), and wake after sleep onset (WASO), however, no prior studies have quantified the strength of frequencies within the various stages of sleep and wakefulness to determine if there are any relationships with differences in brain activity in those that did and did not development optic disc edema. Additionally, there are currently no ways to screen astronauts' risk for developing SANS and identifying an electrophysiological biomarker could change that. Establishing an effective way to screen astronauts who may be at a greater risk for developing SANS is crucial for the long-term neuro-ocular health of astronauts' and the development of interventions and/or countermeasures to prevent SANS.

While no prior studies have quantified EEG wave frequencies in the context of SANS-like outcomes, attempting to close this gap in knowledge may be helpful in elucidating the underlying mechanisms leading to these lasting neurological deficits. Given EEG waveforms are a composite of underlying frequencies over time, represented by sinusoids, it's necessary to split these signals up into their individual components (i.e., frequency bands) and measure the strength of these signals, referred to as power, within a given sleep stage. A simple and powerful tool to quantify the strength of signals that make up a given EEG waveform is known as power spectral analysis, which transforms these data from a time domain (i.e., EEG waveforms as a function of time) into their frequency domain (i.e., strength of a signal as a function of frequency) through the application

of a Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) (Welch). This process allows for the quantification of the various frequencies making up the measured EEG signal, which reflect dynamic activity of various networks of cells in the brain. Through this approach, we can determine differences in the strengths of these signals between those who did and those who did not develop optic disc edema during strict head-down tilt bedrest.

Hypothesis

Based on the VaPER study data and what we know about sleep physiology, we hypothesized that there would be greater alpha and theta power and decreased delta power in those who developed optic disc edema when compared to those who do not develop optic disc edema. Therefore, sleep would be in the lighter stages of sleep (NREM stages 1-2) compared to expected population norms. To test this hypothesis, we performed a *post hoc* spectral analysis of previously collected overnight polysomnography data from the VaPER study.

Methods

Human Subjects

This study was conducted at the German Aerospace Center (DLR) *:envihab* facility in Cologne, Germany as part of the "VIIP and Psychological :envihab Research (VaPER)" study, which was approved by the NASA Johnson Space Center's Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Ethics Committee of the North Rhine Medical Association for the Institute of Aerospace Medicine at the German Aerospace Center (DLR). Subjects within this study were healthy male and female volunteers aged 25 to 50 years, with a body mass index (BMI) range of 21 to 28 and were able to successfully complete a physical and psychological screening (Table 1). To minimize confounding variables in this study, no medications were allowed, including medication for seasonal allergies, or others that may impact blood pressure regulation, the cardiovascular system, sleep patterns, or neurological function.

Environment

Subjects lived at the *:envihab* facility at the DLR in Cologne, Germany for 14 days prior to and following strict HDTBR, separated by 30 days of bedrest. All subjects entered and exited the study in pairs on successive days (e.g., subjects A/B enter HDT on Monday, subjects C/D enter HDT on Tuesday, etc.). Throughout the study, all participants consumed standardized meals, utilizing a 7-day meal plan for pre- and post-bed rest and a standard 14-day meal plan to ensure adequate nutrient intake. During the pre- and post-HDTBR period subjects were ambulatory and slept in a horizontal position with *ad libitum* use of a normal pillow, which was not allowed during the HDTBR period. Instead, a specially designed pillow was used by some subjects to support the head and neck only when sleeping on their side. No pillow was used when sleeping on their back and subjects were allowed to use blankets and sheets as needed.

After 14 days of the pre-HDTBR period (BDC) subjects were introduced to the hypercapnic environment (0.5% CO₂ (~4 mm Hg) in 21% O₂) and assumed the strict 6° headdown tilt (HDT) position at 09:00 on the first day of HDTBR (HDT1). Subjects maintained the 6° HDT position in the hypercapnic environment through HDT30 and resumed upright posture in a normocapnic (0.04% Co₂) environment in the morning of the first day of recovery (R). Subjects remained in the facility during a recovery period for 2 weeks.

Lights were turned off between 22:00 and 23:00 and were turned on at 06:30. All rooms were below ground level with windows that opened into an atrium and thus the windows only allowed for indirect daylight. During the night, the window shades were closed, so that rooms were near total darkness. Subjects were allowed to use mobile devices, tablets, computers, and to watch television but all devices and the wireless local area network were turned off at 23:00. These controls were put in place to maintain circadian entrainment during the duration of the study.

VaPER Polysomnography

Sleep in the VaPER campaign was measured during 7 time points (BDC-10 (baseline data collection 10 days before HDT) used for Familiarization), BDC-4 (baseline), HDT4 (head down tilt day 4), HDT17, HDT28), and twice during recovery (R). During baseline data collection (BDC), subjects completed a polysomnography familiarization session. All subjects were screened prior to study involvement of any sleep-related disorders that may interfere with study conclusions.

Overnight polysomnography (PSG) was used to assess sleep in 30-second epochs (Alice PDx, Philips Respironics, Murrysville, PA). PSG instrumentation included central (C3), occipital

(O2), and mastoid (M1/M2) electroencephalogram (EEG) electrodes following the standard locations of the International 10-20 system (Anon, 2012), vertical and horizontal electrooculogram (EOG) electrodes, submental and mental electromyogram (EMG) electrodes, electrocardiogram (ECG) electrodes, thoracic and abdominal respiratory effort belts, finger pulse oximeter, oral thermistor, and nasal cannula. To accommodate a large number of parallel studies on these subjects and limited number of sleep recording devices, we made our measures at early (HDT 4), middle (HDT 17), and late (HDT 28) timepoints during bedrest. Sleep was visually scored using the Sleepware G3 software (v3.8.1, Philips Respironics, Murrysville, PA) by a Registered Polysomnographic Technologist with more than 20 years of experience, in accordance with the American Academy of Sleep Medicine Scoring Standards (AASMSS) (v2.4, April 2017). Scoring was performed to assess sleep stages, architecture, latency, arousals, apneas, and hypopneas.

Power Spectral Analysis & Statistical Analysis

EEG was sampled at 200 Hz using a 2 channel AlicePDx system with electrodes placed at locations O2 and C3 with a bipolar reference to adjacent sites. EEG data was pre-processed with standard methods available in MNE (Minimum-Norm Estimate; specialized software for EMG and EEG analysis) and incorporated in Python. First, data was high pass filtered (0.5 Hz cutoff). Visual inspection and automated rejection algorithms available in MNE (using threshold and kurtosis approaches) were used to identify artifacts. Power spectral density was calculated using the multitaper function via MNE in Python. Power values will then be averaged over conventional frequency band (delta: 1-3 Hz, theta: 4-7 Hz, alpha: 8-12 Hz, beta: 13-30 Hz, and gamma: 31-55 Hz). A three-factor repeated measures ANOVA was employed to test for differences in sleep stages for each frequency range and channel across all participants. Statistical significance was determined *a priori* as p<0.001 following a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

RESULTS

Subject ID	Edema Call	Sex	Height (in)	Weight (lbs)	BMI	Age
А	Y	М	66.7	163.0	25.8	35
В	Ν	М	72.0	148.5	25.0	33
С	Ν	F	62.0	121.0	22.1	44
D	Ν	F	69.0	151.0	22.3	26
Е	Y	F	63.4	132.7	23.2	38
G	Ν	М	73.2	160.5	21.1	25
Н	Y	М	72.0	178.0	24.1	50
J	Ν	М	71.6	185.0	25.4	27
Κ	Ν	М	70.7	163.0	22.9	27
L	Y	F	66.5	145.9	23.2	31
М	Y	F	65.1	167.8	27.8	34
			68.4 (±3.8)	156.0 (±18.8)	23.9 (±1.9)	33.6 (±7.9)

Subject Characteristics

Table 1. Subject anthropometrics (6 males, 5 females) upon arrival to the DLR. 5 subjects had optic disc edema at the end of bedrest measured on day 28 of strict head-down tilt bedrest (HDT 28). Group averages (\pm SD) for height, weight, BMI, and age are displayed in the bottom row. BMI = Body Mass Index.

EEG Spectral Analysis

On BDC-4 there were no significant differences in power of frequency across sleep stages or channels (p>0.001). On HDT28 there were significant differences in stage 2 (N2) NREM sleep across channel A1-O2, subjects that did not develop optic disc edema had greater alpha power, and greater low and high beta power compared to those who did not develop optic disc edema (p<0.001). Additionally, during stage 2 (N2) NREM sleep there were significant differences across channel A2-C3, subjects that did not develop optic disc edema had greater low and high beta power (p<0.001). There were no other observed significant differences in spectral power across stages or channels between groups on HDT28.



Figure I. PSD Channel A1-O2 BDC-4 NREM2 Sleep. Power spectral density of electroencephalographic sleep recording baseline data 4 days prior to the strict head down tilt bed rest period. There were no significant differences in spectral power between groups.



Figure II. PSD Channel A1-O2 HDTBR28 NREM2 Sleep. Power spectral density of electroencephalographic sleep recording during strict HDTBR 28 N2 sleep channel A1-O2. There were significant differences in alpha power and low and high beta power. Subjects who did not develop optic disc edema had higher levels of alpha and beta power.



Figure III. PSD Channel A2-C3 HDTBR28 NREM2 Sleep. Power spectral density of electroencephalographic sleep recording during strict HDTBR 28 N2 sleep channel A2-C3. There were significant differences in low and high beta power with subjects who did not develop optic disc edema having higher levels of beta power.

Discussion

Most astronauts returning from spaceflight missions experience a collage of lasting neurological deficits driven by adaptations to the presence of microgravity aboard the ISS, a hallmark being optic disc edema. This study aimed to assess differences in brain activity during sleep before and at the end of strict head-down tilt bedrest with increased ambient CO₂ in 11 healthy volunteers. The results of the current study do not support the hypothesis of observing greater alpha and theta power and decreased delta power in those who develop optic disc edema when compared to those who do not develop edema. However, based on the results of the current study we did not detect any differences in power spectral density during BDC day 4 and similarly did not detect differences in theta and delta power during HDTBR day 28. However, we did observe increased alpha power in subjects who did not develop optic disc edema, in opposition of our hypothesis, and increased beta power in N2 sleep of HDTBR 28 which was also unexpected. While the prominent brain activity during N2 NREM sleep reflects theta activity, there are other underlying frequencies which make up the measured EEG signal, such as background alpha activity. Alpha waves are associated with wakefulness, drowsiness, and the transition from wakefulness to sleep. At first glance this may suggest our observation of an increase in alpha power during sleep in subjects that did not develop optic disc edema were in a transition state longer than those who did, however, we would expect this to be reflected in differences during N1 NREM sleep, which was not detected in the current approach. However, this could also be due to traditional scoring approaches of assessing sleep in 30-second epochs. This could suggest that the current approach of EEG acquisition and analysis is unable to capture shorter transition states, leading to differences not being reflected in N1 sleep.

A possible explanation for these unexpected outcomes may be that the differences seen during N2 NREM sleep on HDT day 28 were influenced by the increased ambient CO₂ during the bedrest period. Interestingly enough, high levels of CO₂ have been shown to alter EEG signals, decreasing alpha and beta spectral power, which has been suggested to reflect the underlying physiological responses to hypercapnia (Jin). While there weren't differences in vascular reactivity or pressure of CO₂ in the arterial blood during VaPER, preliminary results from this study did measure a blunted ventilatory response to carbon dioxide in subjects who developed optic disc edema compared to those who did not develop optic disc edema (unpublished data). Relevant to the current study, the ventilatory response to carbon dioxide decreases as a function of sleep stage (e.g., least sensitive during S3 NREM sleep compared to S1 NREM sleep). This may allow for a situation in subjects who developed edema to increase arterial CO₂ pressures to a greater extent compared to those who did not develop optic disc edema during sleep. It is well established CO_2 is the biggest factor governing brain blood flow (i.e., greater pressure of CO₂ in the blood = more blood flow to the brain to "wash" it out and maintain blood pH). Additionally, CO₂ can drive sympathetic activity, impacting heart rate, blood flow, and glymphatic flow to varying degrees. Therefore, increased blood CO₂ levels could equate to greater increases in brain blood flow during sleep and may impact measured EEG and our outcomes.

Given we did not see differences during BDC, we likely cannot use baseline sleep EEG power as a screening tool to determine risk of developing SANS outcomes. However, this does not suggest sleep is not an underlying factor in the development of SANS. SANS is likely a multifaceted problem and short sleep may be one of several potential risk factors underlying SANS development. A likely candidate that may explain the connection of sleep and SANS development could be the glymphatic system. The glymphatic system consists of perivascular channels created

by astrocytes to simultaneously clear metabolic waste and distribute glucose, lipids, amino acids and other non-waste molecules to the brain and adjacent structures like the eyes (Jessen). While knowledge about the glymphatic system is limited, it is known through rodent and human studies that the system is significantly more active during sleep than wakefulness and clearance can be manipulated because of sleep deprivation (Reddy). Sleep allows the brain to enter a state in which it can eliminate metabolic waste products which buildup gradually throughout the day, leading to the inequal distribution of activity in sleep and wake (Jessen). Knowing the glymphatic system is more active during sleep than wakefulness, subjects with shorter sleep may have lower rates of waste clearance leading to a greater buildup that may manifest over time (e.g., over the course of spaceflight or HDT bedrest) and may contribute to the development of optic disc edema. One conflict worth noting, is that some studies suggest that the glymphatic system is most active during N3 sleep (Reddy). Our subjects have differences in N2 sleep and not N3, however, these studies use sleep deprivation and/or hypnotics to induce daytime sleep for measurements. Sleep deprivation increases N3 SWS power during rebound sleep periods and glymphatic clearance, which means these studies may be artificially increasing the amount of glymphatic activity during N3 in comparison to other stages of sleep (Plante). To further support the potential role of the glymphatic system, Kramer et. al showed that long duration exposure to microgravity led to expansion of the brain and CSF causing increased CSF velocity and decreased intracranial compliance. These changes may impact the activity level and effectiveness of the glymphatic system, potentially contributing to optic disc edema and other SANS outcomes.

Limitations

A limitation to this study is that, while the strict HDTBR is the best spaceflight analog we currently have to study SANS, it still is not the perfect spaceflight analog for SANS. This study did not elicit the same prevalence of SANS outcomes (46%) as we see in space (70%). This discrepancy may suggest the physiological changes occurring to cause SANS-like outcomes in ground studies may be different than the changes occurring in spaceflight. For example, it would be expected that EEG signals may have a similar relationship in space and on Earth but may be more pronounced in space than in our HDTBR model. If that is accurate, the risk factors for development of SANS or SANS-like outcomes could be different in space than on Earth. Another limitation would be the sample size, with a subject pool of 11, our current measures of EEG acquisition may not be powerful enough to detect changes prior to bedrest. EEG noise was limited as much as possible by putting signals through a high pass filter with a 0.5 Hz cutoff. Lastly, with our current measure of EEG acquisition, differences may have been seen in N2 NREM sleep rather than other stages due to the duration of time spent in N2 NREM sleep. Approximately 45% of time during sleep is spent in N2 NREM sleep, this provides more data to detect differences in power compared to other sleep stages.

Concluding Statements

Although the significance of these is still uncertain, this study provides a sound starting off point for future work surrounding SANS. Additional investigations into earlier timepoints of HDTBR should be conducted to determine when changes can be seen. Additionally, risk assessment profiles could be formed by increasing the number of subjects and analyzing more timepoints for future astronauts. Given how little is currently known about the risk factors for SANS with this field of research, the significance of the outcomes from this study may precipitate once the development of SANS becomes better understood.

Bibliography

- Abdul-latif, A. A., Cosic, I., Kumar, D. K., Polus, B., & Da Costa, C. (2004). Power changes of EEG signals associated with muscle fatigue: The root mean square analysis of EEG bands. Proceedings of the 2004 Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing Conference, 2004., 531–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ISSNIP.2004.1417517</u>
- Barger, L. K., Flynn-Evans, E. E., Kubey, A., Walsh, L., Ronda, J. M., Wang, W., Wright, K. P., & Czeisler, C. A. (2014). Prevalence of sleep deficiency and use of hypnotic drugs in astronauts before, during, and after spaceflight: An observational study. *The Lancet Neurology*, *13*(9), 904–912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70122-X</u>
- Cipolla, M. J. (2009). Control of Cerebral Blood Flow. In *The Cerebral Circulation*. Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53082/</u>
- Claassen, J. A. H. R., Thijssen, D. H. J., Panerai, R. B., & Faraci, F. M. (2021). Regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: Physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. *Physiological Reviews*, 101(4), 1487–1559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00022.2020</u>
- Clément, G. R., Crucian, B. E., Downs, M., Krieger, S., Laurie, S. S., Lee, S. M. C., Mulder, E., Roma, P. G., Sibonga, J. D., Smith, S. M., Stenger, M. B., Wood, S. J., & Zwart, S. R. (2022). International standard measures during the VaPER bed rest study. *Acta Astronautica*, *190*, 208–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actaastro.2021.10.017</u>
- Corfield, D. R., & Meadows, G. E. (2007). Control of Cerebral Blood Flow During Sleep and The Effects of Hypoxia. In R. C. Roach, P. D. Wagner, & P. H. Hackett (Eds.), *Hypoxia* and Exercise (pp. 65–73). Springer US. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-34817-9_7</u>
- Dressler, O., Schneider, G., Stockmanns, G., & Kochs, E. F. (2004). Awareness and the EEG power spectrum: Analysis of frequencies. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 93(6), 806–809. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeh270
- Freund, P., & Margolin, E. (2023). Pseudopapilledema. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538291/</u>
- Fultz, N. E., Bonmassar, G., Setsompop, K., Stickgold, R. A., Rosen, B. R., Polimeni, J. R., & Lewis, L. D. (2019). Coupled electrophysiological, hemodynamic, and cerebrospinal fluid oscillations in human sleep. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 366(6465), 628–631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax5440</u>
- Greenwald, S. H., Macias, B. R., Lee, S. M. C., Marshall-Goebel, K., Ebert, D. J., Liu, J. H. K., Ploutz-Snyder, R. J., Alferova, I. V., Dulchavsky, S. A., Hargens, A. R., Stenger, M. B., & Laurie, S. S. (2021). Intraocular pressure and choroidal thickness respond differently to lower body negative pressure during spaceflight. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 131(2), 613–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01040.2020</u>

- Hansen, A. B., Lawley, J. S., Rickards, C. A., Howden, E. J., Sarma, S., Cornwell, W. K., Amin, S. B., Mugele, H., Marume, K., Possnig, C., Whitworth, L. A., Williams, M. A., & Levine, B. D. (2021). Reducing intracranial pressure by reducing central venous pressure: Assessment of potential countermeasures to spaceflight-associated neuro-ocular syndrome. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *130*(2), 283–289. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00786.2020
- Hirshkowitz, M., Whiton, K., Albert, S. M., Alessi, C., Bruni, O., DonCarlos, L., Hazen, N., Herman, J., Katz, E. S., Kheirandish-Gozal, L., Neubauer, D. N., O'Donnell, A. E., Ohayon, M., Peever, J., Rawding, R., Sachdeva, R. C., Setters, B., Vitiello, M. V., Ware, J. C., & Adams Hillard, P. J. (2015). National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: Methodology and results summary. *Sleep Health*, 1(1), 40–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2014.12.010</u>
- Hoiland, R. L., Fisher, J. A., & Ainslie, P. N. (2019). Regulation of the Cerebral Circulation by Arterial Carbon Dioxide. In *Comprehensive Physiology* (pp. 1101–1154). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c180021</u>
- Jessen, N. A., Munk, A. S. F., Lundgaard, I., & Nedergaard, M. (2015a). The Glymphatic System A Beginner's Guide. *Neurochemical Research*, 40(12), 2583–2599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-015-1581-6
- Jin, R. N., Inada, H., Négyesi, J., Ito, D., & Nagatomi, R. (2022). Carbon dioxide effects on daytime sleepiness and EEG signal: A combinational approach using classical frequentist and Bayesian analyses. *Indoor Air*, 32(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.13055</u>
- Kety, S. S., & Schmidt, C. F. (1948). THE EFFECTS OF ALTERED ARTERIAL TENSIONS OF CARBON DIOXIDE AND OXYGEN ON CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW AND CEREBRAL OXYGEN CONSUMPTION OF NORMAL YOUNG MEN 1. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 27(4), 484–492.
- Kramer, L. A., Hasan, K. M., Stenger, M. B., Sargsyan, A., Laurie, S. S., Otto, C., Ploutz-Snyder, R. J., Marshall-Goebel, K., Riascos, R. F., & Macias, B. R. (2020b). Intracranial Effects of Microgravity: A Prospective Longitudinal MRI Study. *Radiology*, 295(3), 640–648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020191413</u>
- Laurie, S. S., Christian, K., Kysar, J., Lee, S. M. C., Lovering, A. T., Macias, B. R., Moestl, S., Sies, W., Mulder, E., Young, M., & Stenger, M. B. (2020). Unchanged cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity and hypercapnic ventilatory response during strict head-down tilt bed rest in a mild hypercapnic environment. *The Journal of Physiology*, 598(12), 2491–2505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/JP279383</u>
- Laurie, S. S., Greenwald, S. H., Marshall-Goebel, K., Pardon, L. P., Gupta, A., Lee, S. M. C., Stern, C., Sangi-Haghpeykar, H., Macias, B. R., & Bershad, E. M. (2021). Optic disc edema and chorioretinal folds develop during strict 6° head-down tilt bed rest with or without artificial gravity. *Physiological Reports*, 9(15), e14977. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14977

- Laurie, S. S., Macias, B. R., Dunn, J. T., Young, M., Stern, C., Lee, S. M. C., & Stenger, M. B. (2019). Optic Disc Edema after 30 Days of Strict Head-down Tilt Bed Rest. *Ophthalmology*, 126(3), 467–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.09.042</u>
- Laurie, S. S., Macias, B. R., Pardon, L. P., Brunstetter, T., Tarver, W. J., Gibson, C. R., Greenwald, S. H., Marshall-Goebel, K., Jasien, J. V., Tech, J., Mason, S., & Tsung, A. (n.d.-a). Evidence Report: Risk of Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome (SANS).
- Lawley, J. S., Petersen, L. G., Howden, E. J., Sarma, S., Cornwell, W. K., Zhang, R., Whitworth, L. A., Williams, M. A., & Levine, B. D. (2017). Effect of gravity and microgravity on intracranial pressure. *The Journal of Physiology*, 595(6), 2115–2127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/JP273557</u>
- Lee, A. G., Mader, T. H., Gibson, C. R., Tarver, W., Rabiei, P., Riascos, R. F., Galdamez, L. A., & Brunstetter, T. (2020). Spaceflight associated neuro-ocular syndrome (SANS) and the neuro-ophthalmologic effects of microgravity: A review and an update. *Npj Microgravity*, 6(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41526-020-0097-9</u>
- Lew, M. H. (n.d.). *The Long-term Effects of Spaceflight on Human Brain Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020201164
- Macias, B. R., Ferguson, C. R., Patel, N., Gibson, C., Samuels, B. C., Laurie, S. S., Lee, S. M. C., Ploutz-Snyder, R., Kramer, L., Mader, T. H., Brunstetter, T., Alferova, I. V., Hargens, A. R., Ebert, D. J., Dulchavsky, S. A., & Stenger, M. B. (2021). Changes in the Optic Nerve Head and Choroid Over 1 Year of Spaceflight. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, *139*(6), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2021.0931
- Mader, T. H., Gibson, C. R., Pass, A. F., Kramer, L. A., Lee, A. G., Fogarty, J., Tarver, W. J., Dervay, J. P., Hamilton, D. R., Sargsyan, A., Phillips, J. L., Tran, D., Lipsky, W., Choi, J., Stern, C., Kuyumjian, R., & Polk, J. D. (2011). Optic Disc Edema, Globe Flattening, Choroidal Folds, and Hyperopic Shifts Observed in Astronauts after Long-duration Space Flight. *Ophthalmology*, *118*(10), 2058–2069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2011.06.021
- Marshall-Goebel, K., Damani, R., & Bershad, E. M. (2019). Brain Physiological Response and Adaptation During Spaceflight. *Neurosurgery*, *85*(5), E815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/neuros/nyz203</u>
- Mathieu, E., Gupta, N., Ahari, A., Zhou, X., Hanna, J., & Yücel, Y. H. (2017a). Evidence for Cerebrospinal Fluid Entry Into the Optic Nerve via a Glymphatic Pathway. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 58(11), 4784–4791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.17-</u> 22290
- Örzsik, B., Palombo, M., Asllani, I., Dijk, D.-J., Harrison, N. A., & Cercignani, M. (2023). Higher order diffusion imaging as a putative index of human sleep-related microstructural changes and glymphatic clearance. *NeuroImage*, 274, 120124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2023.120124</u>

- Patel, A. K., Reddy, V., Shumway, K. R., & Araujo, J. F. (2022). Physiology, Sleep Stages. In StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526132/</u>
- Plante, D. T., Goldstein, M. R., Cook, J. D., Smith, R., Riedner, B. A., Rumble, M. E., Jelenchick, L., Roth, A., Tononi, G., Benca, R. M., & Peterson, M. J. (2016). Effects of partial sleep deprivation on slow waves during non-rapid eye movement sleep: A high density EEG investigation. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 127(2), 1436–1444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.10.040
- Prerau, M. J., Brown, R. E., Bianchi, M. T., Ellenbogen, J. M., & Purdon, P. L. (2017). Sleep Neurophysiological Dynamics Through the Lens of Multitaper Spectral Analysis. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md.)*, 32(1), 60–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00062.2015</u>
- Reddy, O. C., & van der Werf, Y. D. (2020a). The Sleeping Brain: Harnessing the Power of the Glymphatic System through Lifestyle Choices. *Brain Sciences*, 10(11), 868. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10110868</u>
- Seidler, R. D., Stern, C., Basner, M., Stahn, A. C., Wuyts, F. L., & zu Eulenburg, P. (2022). Future research directions to identify risks and mitigation strategies for neurostructural, ocular, and behavioral changes induced by human spaceflight: A NASA-ESA expert group consensus report. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 16. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncir.2022.876789
- Sh., T., S., P., A., Z., A., M., & Z., B. (2020). Does Muscle Fatigue Alter EEG Bands of Brain Hemispheres? *Journal of Biomedical Physics & Engineering*, 10(2), 187–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.31661/jbpe.v0i0.621</u>
- Sleep Deprivation and Deficiency What Are Sleep Deprivation and Deficiency? | NHLBI, NIH. (2022, March 24). <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/sleep-deprivation</u>
- Taibbi, G., Cromwell, R. L., Zanello, S. B., Yarbough, P. O., Ploutz-Snyder, R. J., Godley, B. F., & Vizzeri, G. (2016). Ocular Outcomes Comparison Between 14- and 70-Day Head-Down-Tilt Bed Rest. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 57(2), 495–501. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-18530
- Williams, D., Kuipers, A., Mukai, C., & Thirsk, R. (2009). Acclimation during space flight: Effects on human physiology. CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal, 180(13), 1317–1323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.090628</u>
- Wostyn, P., & De Deyn, P. P. (2018). The "Ocular Glymphatic System": An Important Missing Piece in the Puzzle of Optic Disc Edema in Astronauts? *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 59(5), 2090–2091. <u>https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.17-23263</u>
- Wostyn, P., & Goddaer, P. (2023). Can Immersive Sound Therapy Counteract Neurodegeneration by Enhancing Glymphatic Clearance? Comment on Sachdeva et al. Effects of Sound Interventions on the Permeability of the Blood-Brain Barrier and

Meningeal Lymphatic Clearance. Brain Sci. 2022, 12, 742. *Brain Sciences*, 13(1), 98. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci13010098

- Wostyn, P., Mader, T. H., Gibson, C. R., & Nedergaard, M. (2022). Does Long-Duration Exposure to Microgravity Lead to Dysregulation of the Brain and Ocular Glymphatic Systems? *Eye and Brain*, 14, 49–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/EB.S354710</u>
- Xu, F., Uh, J., Brier, M. R., Hart, J., Yezhuvath, U. S., Gu, H., Yang, Y., & Lu, H. (2011). The influence of carbon dioxide on brain activity and metabolism in conscious humans. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 31(1), 58–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2010.153</u>
- Zhang, J., Cao, X., Wang, X., Pang, L., Liang, J., & Zhang, L. (2021). Physiological responses to elevated carbon dioxide concentration and mental workload during performing MATB tasks. *Building and Environment*, 195, 107752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2021.107752
- Zhang, L.-F., & Hargens, A. R. (2018). Spaceflight-Induced Intracranial Hypertension and Visual Impairment: Pathophysiology and Countermeasures. *Physiological Reviews*, 98(1), 59–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00017.2016</u>
- Zielinski, M. R., McKenna, J. T., & McCarley, R. W. (2016). Functions and Mechanisms of Sleep. AIMS Neuroscience, 3(1), 67–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/Neuroscience.2016.1.67</u>
- Zwart, S. R., & Smith, S. M. (2022). Chapter 5—Genetics, vitamins, and Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome. In A. G. Lee & J. Ong (Eds.), *Spaceflight Associated Neuro-Ocular Syndrome* (pp. 55–65). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91524-3.00017-X</u>